
 

 
 
 
 

April 6, 2017 
 
 
 
Mr. Mark E. Reddemann 
Chief Executive Officer 
Energy Northwest 
MD 1023 
P.O. Box 968 
Richland, WA  99352 
 
SUBJECT: COLUMBIA GENERATING STATION – NRC PROBLEM IDENTIFICATION AND 

RESOLUTION INSPECTION REPORT 05000397/2017007 
 
Dear Mr. Reddemann: 

On March 2, 2017, the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) completed a problem 
identification and resolution inspection at the Columbia Generating Station and discussed the 
results of this inspection with you and members of your staff.  The results of this inspection are 
documented in the enclosed report. 
 
The NRC inspection team reviewed the station’s corrective action program and the station’s 
implementation of the program to evaluate its effectiveness in identifying, prioritizing, evaluating, 
and correcting problems, and to confirm that the station was complying with NRC regulations 
and licensee standards for corrective action programs.  Based on the samples reviewed, the 
team determined that your staff’s performance in each of these areas adequately supported 
nuclear safety. 
 
The team also evaluated the station’s processes for use of industry and NRC operating 
experience information and the effectiveness of the station’s audits and self-assessments.  
Based on the samples reviewed, the team determined that your staff’s performance in each of 
these areas adequately supported nuclear safety. 
 
Finally, the team reviewed the station’s programs to establish and maintain a safety-conscious 
work environment, and interviewed station personnel to evaluate the effectiveness of these 
programs.  Based on the team’s observations and the results of these interviews, the team 
found evidence that a chilled work environment in which personnel had been hesitant to raise 
some issues for fear of retaliation, had existed within the electrical maintenance shop as 
recently as late 2016.  However, the station’s recent efforts to address these issues, including 
some organizational changes, appear to have restored a safety-conscious work environment. 
The team did not identify any significant ongoing challenges with the safety-conscious work 
environment at Columbia. 
 
NRC inspectors documented one finding of very low safety significance (Green), which involved 
a violation of NRC requirements.  The NRC is treating this violation as a non-cited violation 
(NCV), consistent with Section 2.3.2.a of the Enforcement Policy. 
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If you contest this violation or its significance, you should provide a response within 30 days of 
the date of this inspection report, with the basis for your denial, to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission, ATTN:  Document Control Desk, Washington, DC 20555-0001; with copies to the 
Regional Administrator, Region IV; the Director, Office of Enforcement; and the NRC resident 
inspector at the Columbia Generating Station. 
 
If you disagree with the cross-cutting aspect assignment for the non-cited violation, you should 
provide a response within 30 days of the date of this inspection report, with the basis for your 
disagreement, to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, ATTN:  Document Control Desk, 
Washington, DC 20555-0001; with copies to the Regional Administrator, Region IV; and the 
NRC resident inspector at the Columbia Generating Station. 
 
This letter, its enclosure, and your response (if any) will be made available for public inspection 
and copying at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html and at the NRC Public Document 
Room in accordance with 10 CFR 2.390, “Public Inspections, Exemptions, Requests for 
Withholding.” 
 

Sincerely, 
 
/RA/ 
 
 
Thomas R. Hipschman, Team Leader 
Inspection Programs and Assessment Team 
Division of Reactor Safety 

 
Docket No:  50-397 
License No:  NPF-21 
 
Enclosure:   
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1. Supplemental Information 
2. Information Request 
3. Supplemental Information Request 

 
cc w/ encl:  Electronic Distribution 
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SUMMARY 
 
IR 05000397/2017007; 02/13/2017 – 03/02/2017; COLUMBIA GENERATING STATION; 
Problem Identification and Resolution (Biennial) 
 
The inspection activities described in this report were performed between February 13 and 
March 2, 2017, by four inspectors from the NRC’s Region IV office and the senior resident 
inspector at Columbia Generating Station.  The report documents one finding of very low safety 
significance (Green), which involved a violation of NRC requirements.  The significance of 
inspection findings is indicated by their color (Green, White, Yellow, or Red), which is 
determined using Inspection Manual Chapter 0609, “Significance Determination Process.”  Their 
cross-cutting aspects are determined using Inspection Manual Chapter 0310, “Aspects Within 
the Cross-Cutting Areas.”  Violations of NRC requirements are dispositioned in accordance with 
the NRC Enforcement Policy.  The NRC's program for overseeing the safe operation of 
commercial nuclear power reactors is described in NUREG-1649, “Reactor Oversight Process.” 
 
Assessment of Problem Identification and Resolution 
 
Based on its inspection sample, the team concluded that the licensee maintained a corrective 
action program in which individuals generally identified issues at an appropriately low threshold.  
Once entered into the corrective action program, the licensee generally evaluated and 
addressed these issues appropriately and timely, commensurate with their safety significance.  
The licensee’s corrective actions were generally effective, addressing the causes and extents of 
condition of problems. 
 
The licensee appropriately evaluated industry operating experience for relevance to the facility 
and entered applicable items in the corrective action program.  The licensee incorporated 
industry and internal operating experience in its root cause and apparent cause evaluations.  
The licensee performed effective and self-critical nuclear oversight audits and self-assessments.  
The licensee maintained an effective process to ensure significant findings from these audits 
and self-assessments were addressed. 
 
At the time of the inspection, the licensee maintained a safety-conscious work environment in 
which personnel were willing to raise nuclear safety concerns without fear of retaliation.  The 
team noted evidence that as recently as late 2016, a chilled work environment had existed 
within the electrical maintenance group.  However, recent actions by the licensee appeared to 
have restored a safety-conscious work environment. 
 
Cornerstone:  Mitigating Systems 

 
• Green/SL-IV.  The team identified a Green, Severity Level IV non-cited violation of 10 CFR 

Part 50 Appendix B Criteria VII and XV, for the licensee’s failure to ensure materials 
intended for installation in safety-related applications conformed to procurement 
requirements or, if they did not, were adequately controlled and evaluated. 

 
The failure to establish a program to evaluate and control nonconforming materials in 
accordance with the procurement requirements of 10 CFR 21 was a performance deficiency. 
This performance was more than minor because if left uncorrected it had the potential to 
become a more significant safety concern.  Using Inspection Manual Chapter 0609 
Appendix A, dated June 19, 2012, the team determined that this finding was of very low 
safety significance (Green) because it was a deficiency affecting the design or qualification 
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of a structure, system, or component, and operability was maintained.  The finding has a 
conservative bias cross-cutting aspect in the human performance cross-cutting area 
because licensee personnel improperly rationalized the adequacy of the nonconforming 
components to perform their safety-related functions (H.14). 

 
Because this performance deficiency was also a violation that impacted the regulatory 
process, in that the licensee accepted a change to plant design without appropriate 
evaluation and notification, it was also evaluated for traditional enforcement.  The team 
determined that the violation was Severity Level IV because it was similar to several 
examples in Section 6.5.d of the NRC Enforcement Policy. 
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REPORT DETAILS 
 
 
4. OTHER ACTIVITIES (OA) 
 
4OA2 Problem Identification and Resolution (71152) 
 
The team based the following conclusions on a sample of corrective action documents that were 
open during the assessment period, which ranged from March 20, 2015, to the end of the on-
site portion of this inspection on March 2, 2017. 
 
.1  Assessment of the Corrective Action Program Effectiveness 
 

a. Inspection Scope   
 
The team reviewed approximately 200 condition reports (CRs), including associated root 
cause analyses and apparent cause evaluations, from approximately 22,000 that the 
licensee had initiated or closed between March 20, 2015, and March 2, 2017.  The 
majority of these (all but about 200) were lower-level condition reports that did not 
require cause evaluations.  The inspection sample focused primarily on higher-
significance condition reports for which the licensee evaluated and took actions to 
address the cause of the condition.  In performing its review, the team evaluated 
whether the licensee had properly identified, characterized, and entered issues into the 
corrective action program, and whether the licensee had appropriately evaluated and 
resolved the issues in accordance with established programs, processes, and 
procedures.  The team also reviewed these programs, processes, and procedures to 
determine if any issues existed that may impair their effectiveness.   
 
The team reviewed a sample of performance metrics, system health reports, operability 
determinations, self-assessments, trending reports and metrics, and various other 
documents related to the licensee’s corrective action program.  The team evaluated the 
licensee’s efforts in determining the scope of problems by reviewing selected logs, work 
orders, self-assessment results, audits, system health reports, action plans, and results 
from surveillance tests and preventive maintenance tasks.  The team reviewed daily 
CRs and attended the licensee’s Condition Review Group, Operations Focus, 
Management Review Team, and Operability Determination Quality Review Board 
meetings to assess the reporting threshold and prioritization efforts, and to observe the 
corrective action program’s interfaces with the operability assessment and work control 
processes.  The team’s review included an evaluation of whether the licensee 
considered the full extent of cause and extent of condition for problems, as well as a 
review of how the licensee assessed generic implications and previous occurrences of 
issues.  The team assessed the timeliness and effectiveness of corrective actions, 
completed or planned, and looked for additional examples of problems similar to those 
the licensee had previously addressed.  The team conducted interviews with plant 
personnel to identify other processes that may exist where problems may be identified 
and addressed outside the corrective action program. 
 
The team reviewed corrective action documents that addressed past NRC-identified 
violations to evaluate whether corrective actions addressed the issues described in the 
inspection reports.  The team reviewed a sample of corrective actions closed to other 
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corrective action documents to ensure that the ultimate corrective actions remained 
appropriate and timely. 
 
The team considered risk insights from both the NRC’s and Columbia Generating 
Station’s risk models to focus the sample selection and plant tours on risk-significant 
systems and components.  The team focused a portion of its sample on the safety-
related 4160vac and 480vac systems, which the team selected for a five-year in-depth 
review.  The team conducted walk-downs of this system and other plant areas to assess 
whether licensee personnel identified problems at a low threshold and entered them into 
the corrective action program.   

 
b. Assessments 

 
1. Effectiveness of Problem Identification  

 
During the 24-month inspection period, licensee staff generated approximately 
22,000 condition reports.  The team determined that most conditions that required 
generation of a condition report by SWP-CAP-01, “Corrective Action Program,” and 
its progeny procedures had been appropriately entered into the corrective action 
program. 
 
However, the team noted several examples where the licensee had failed to properly 
identify conditions in accordance with procedures.  On February 13 and 15, NRC 
inspectors spent approximately 4-5 hours touring areas of the plant containing 
safety-related equipment.  During this time, the inspectors identified several 
conditions—all in areas routinely toured by operations personnel or where 
maintenance was ongoing—in which the licensee failed to follow procedural 
requirements to prevent potential seismically induced damage to safety-related 
equipment: 
 

• An improperly secured ladder in the vicinity of safety-related switchgear, 
which the licensee had determined had been in place for approximately  
four months.  This was in an area that was toured at least shiftly by operators. 
(CR 361352) 
 

• Scaffolding erected less than two inches away from safety-related equipment, 
in violation of procedures, without attached documentation indicating an 
engineering evaluation had determined the configuration acceptable.  The 
licensee later determined that an appropriate evaluation had been performed, 
but the scaffolding had not been appropriately tagged.  (CR 361441) 
 

• Seismic clips for air filters on emergency diesel generator 2 were improperly 
installed.  Maintenance had recently been done in the area, but this 
deficiency had not been identified and corrected.  (CR 361452) 

 
The team determined that this number of issues identified by inspectors in a short 
time, in areas regularly toured by licensee personnel, indicated a potential failure of 
licensee personnel to understand what constituted a degraded or nonconforming 
condition, or a failure of licensee personnel to understand seismic housekeeping 
requirements.  However, the team determined this was a minor performance 
deficiency not subject to enforcement action. 
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Despite this failure to document some adverse plant conditions in the corrective 
action program, the team concluded that the licensee generally maintained a low 
threshold for the formal identification of problems and entry into the corrective action 
program for evaluation.  Toward the end of the inspection period, licensee personnel 
were routinely initiating approximately 700 CRs per month.  All of the personnel 
interviewed by the team understood the requirements for condition report initiation; 
almost all expressed a willingness to enter newly identified issues into the corrective 
action program at a very low threshold.   
 

2. Effectiveness of Prioritization and Evaluation of Issues  
 

The sample of CRs reviewed by the team focused primarily on issues screened by 
the licensee as having higher-level significance, including those that received cause 
evaluations, those classified as significant conditions adverse to quality, and those 
that required engineering evaluations.  The team also reviewed a number of 
condition reports that included or should have included immediate operability 
determinations to assess the quality, timeliness, and prioritization of these 
determinations. 
 
The team noted that the licensee’s process for determining operability of a potentially 
degraded structure, system, or component, was not straightforward.  Specifically, the 
operability screening process requires operators to answer yes or no first to whether 
a degraded or nonconforming condition (DNC) exists, then to whether an operable 
but degraded condition exists.  Usually, the formal determination of operability is 
contained within the notes for the DNC screen, but there is no explicit documentation 
of operability in the condition reporting system.  This resulted in some inconsistency 
in the application of operability screening questions by licensed operators in the 
control room.  The licensee’s operability determination quality review board has 
mitigated much of this inconsistency, but the team noted that long-term tracking of 
operable-but-degraded conditions remains challenging under this process. 
 
The team also identified several examples where the licensee’s evaluation of a 
condition was either inconsistent with program procedures or was not fully supported 
by documentation: 
 

• The team reviewed the root cause evaluation (RCE), “Phase 2 Residual Heat 
Removal Fuel Pool Cooling Assist Window Exceeded Technical Specification 
Completion Time,” associated with CR 00321583.  The purpose of the RCE 
was to determine why the licensee required an emergency license 
amendment to extend the completion time of multiple technical specification 
actions in order to support the restoration of a train of the residual heat 
removal system when a planned modification to the system exceeded its 
work window and original seven-day completion time.  The licensee initially 
screened the CR as a Category “A” with a “SCAQ” Priority.  A Category A is 
one that involves an event or condition that is deemed high risk based on 
actual or potential consequences and probability of recurrence that adversely 
affect the safe operation of the facility, the health and safety of personnel or 
the public, or the environment and includes significant condition adverse to 
quality (SCAQ).  A SCAQ is a failure, malfunction, deficiency, deviation, 
defective or damaged material and equipment, or nonconformance that 
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adversely affects the safety-related function(s) of a structure, system or 
component, or part deemed significant based on actual or potential 
consequences that adversely affects the safe operation of the facility, the 
health and safety of personnel or the public, or the environment.  These 
conditions are subject to the requirement of 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, 
Criterion XV, “Nonconforming Materials, Parts, or Components,” and  
Criterion XVI, “Corrective Action,” to determine the root cause and take 
corrective action to preclude repetition.  The licensee later downgraded the 
Priority to CAQ, Condition Adverse to Quality, from SCAQ.  A SCAQ would 
require corrective action to preclude repetition, whereas a CAQ would require 
corrective action but not necessarily any to preclude repetition.  When the 
team requested clarifying information as to why they downgraded the Priority, 
the licensee responded with “Not SCAQ because emergency license 
amendment was granted prior to the expiration of original TECH SPEC”.  
Therefore, the decision to downgrade the Priority was based upon an action 
taken by the NRC and not the licensee’s performance of their modification.   

 
• The team reviewed apparent cause evaluation (ACE), “CEP-V-3A found out 

of normal position” associated with CR 00344031 during the inspection.   
The licensee performed the ACE to determine why containment exhaust 
purge valve 3A (CEP-V-3A) was unexpectedly found in the open position 
(CEP-V-3A is normally closed) during shift turnover on January 26, 2016.  
The licensee concluded that “no direct cause, apparent cause, or contributing 
cause can be determined”.  On February 13, 2017, the licensee again 
discovered CEP-V-3A in the open position and documented finding  
CEP-V-3A in the incorrect position in CR 00361359.  The CRG assigned the 
CR as a Category “A” and as a Priority “CAQ”.  Category A refers to an event 
or condition that is deemed high risk based on actual or  potential 
consequences and probability of recurrence that adversely affect the safe 
operation of the facility, the health and safety of personnel or the public, or 
the environment.  Priority CAQ refers to conditions adverse to quality, which 
is an all-inclusive term used in reference to any of the following:  failures, 
malfunctions, deficiencies, defective items, and nonconformances.  
Furthermore, the CRG determined that “causes known” and “corrective 
actions known” was “partial”.  According to Attachment 8.2, “CAQ Risk and 
Evaluation Level Guidance,” to station procedure, SWP-CAP-06, “Condition 
Report Review,” an ACE would be the appropriate cause evaluation.  The 
team requested additional clarification on why the CRG responded “partial” 
for causes and corrective actions known when a previous ACE did not 
determine a direct, apparent, or contributing cause the first time the licensee 
discovered CEP-V-3A in the incorrect position.  The licensee responded with, 
“Partial cause was agitation of the wire by craft during work partial corrective 
actions known was keeping individuals away from this location until a trouble 
shooting plan is completed.”  According to Attachment 8.2, a “partial” answer 
is acceptable for “Are the causes known?” if the “direct causes are known 
and verified”.  However, as the licensee had not yet begun troubleshooting 
the issue, they could not verify that agitating the wires was the direct cause of 
CEP-V-3A opening.  Therefore, CRG should have answered “no” to “causes 
known”, which would have led the CRG to an “Uncertainty Assessment” of 
“High” and ultimately a Root Cause Evaluation rather than an Apparent 
Cause Evaluation. 
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• In two instances in 2016, the licensee identified failures of purchased parts  

or material to conform to quality standards.  In both cases, the licensee 
generated condition reports to evaluate the condition, but in neither of these 
cases was the suitability of the parts formally evaluated in accordance with 
quality assurance requirements, and then accepted or rejected for safety-
related use.  This failure of the licensee’s programs to ensure conformance 
with quality requirements is discussed as a non-cited violation in  
Section 4OA2.5, below. 

 
Overall, the team determined that the licensee’s process for screening and 
prioritizing issues that had been entered into the corrective action program supported 
nuclear safety.  The licensee’s operability determinations were consistent, accurately 
documented, and completed in accordance with procedures. 
 

3. Effectiveness of Corrective Actions 
 
In general, the corrective actions identified by the licensee to address adverse 
conditions were effective.  However, the team noted a number of instances in which 
corrective actions had been untimely or incompletely accomplished: 
 

• During the 2015 NRC Problem Identification and Resolution inspection, the 
team identified an instance where the licensee had not generated a condition 
report when a degraded/nonconforming condition was identified and, 
consequently, issued a green, non-cited violation for the failure to adhere to 
station procedures.  Specifically, the licensee performed an inspection of a 
motor-operated valve, but did not initiate a condition report when the amount 
of grease in the limit switch gearbox was found to be out-of-specification.  
(When the team brought the issue up with the licensee, the licensee 
evaluated the condition and confirmed that the valve was in a 
degraded/nonconforming condition and should have written a condition 
report.)  The licensee documented that the as-found component condition 
was a “Code 5” according to procedure MI-3.6.4, “Work Package Closure”.  
Code 5 means that reliability of the component has degraded, although not to 
the point of failure, and recommends replacement or repairs due to normal 
wear or aging to ensure reliable operation until the next inspection and to 
consider performing the preventive maintenance task more frequently.  The 
corrective actions for the violation involved additional training on when to 
initiate a condition report and a few procedural enhancements.  Specifically, 
the licensee revised the motor-operated valve maintenance procedure with 
additional guidance on when to initiate a condition report that would 
encompass another grease-related concern.  Additionally, the licensee 
revised procedure MI-3.6.4, which defines as-found component condition 
codes, to state that any Code 1 through 4 as-found component conditions 
require a condition report.  However, this procedure applies to many types of 
components, not just motor-operated valves, and, therefore, a potential gap 
remains where the licensee could assign another component an as-found 
condition of Code 5 and not initiate a condition report when a 
degraded/nonconforming condition exists.  Therefore, while the licensee fixed 
the specific issue that the original violation involved, it did not universally fix 
the condition across the plant for similar issues.  (CR 00361460) 



 
 

9 
 

 
• During the 2015 NRC Problem Identification and Resolution (PI&R) 

inspection, the team identified an issue involving the failure to translate the 
design basis into Component Classification Evaluation Records (CCERs).  
Specifically, some CCERs were found to contain inaccurate information.  The 
significance of this issue is that information from the CCERs could be used to 
make incorrect decisions related to equipment design or qualification or when 
determining current licensing bases requirements.  An initial recommendation 
was made in AR-SA 00333088 to place CCERs into “History” status rather 
than maintaining them as active design basis documents in September 2015.  
However, the licensee did not take any action on the recommendation until 
February 2017 when the licensee ultimately decided to keep all safety-related 
and augmented-quality CCERs active just not any nonsafety-related CCERs.  
However, in the interim, the licensee initiated several condition reports for 
inaccurate CCERs, but closed them without action by stating that “Design 
Engineering management has concluded that CCER documents are to be 
made historical and, therefore, will not be updated.  No further action is 
required.”  The licensee did not recognize that this situation could have 
occurred and, therefore, did not pursue a review of CCERs with known 
inaccuracies to have them corrected.  The team reviewed condition reports 
related to CCERs issued since the previous NRC PI&R inspection and a 
sampling of safety-related CCERs during this inspection and did not identify 
any inaccuracies of significance.  (CRs 00362101, 00362104, and 00362106) 

 
Overall, the team concluded that the licensee generally identified effective corrective 
actions for the problems evaluated in the corrective action program.  The licensee 
generally implemented these corrective actions in a timely manner, commensurate 
with their safety significance, and reviewed the effectiveness of the corrective actions 
appropriately. 
 

.2 Assessment of the Use of Operating Experience  
 

a. Inspection Scope   
 
The team examined the licensee’s program for reviewing industry operating experience, 
including reviewing the governing procedures.  The team reviewed a sample of industry 
operating experience communications and the associated site evaluations to assess 
whether the licensee had appropriately assessed the communications for relevance to 
the facility.  The team also reviewed assigned actions to determine whether they were 
appropriate. 
 

b. Assessment  
 

Overall, the team determined that the licensee appropriately evaluated industry 
operating experience for its relevance to the facility.  Operating experience information 
was incorporated into plant procedures and processes as appropriate. 
 
The team noted one instance in which the licensee did not incorporate operating 
experience information into station processes, which contributed to the failure to prevent 
a significant event.  In the section for operating experience (OE) in the Root Cause 
Evaluation (RCE) for CR 340546, “Traversing In-core Probe Detector Containing Special 
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Nuclear Material Not Located in Designated Storage Area,” two events that occurred at 
different sites were found to have similar events previously happen.  One event was 
reviewed by the licensee and had a one-time action associated with it.  The other event 
noted was not specifically evaluated for impact by the licensee.  The licensee noted in 
the RCE, “Both of these instances could have raised awareness of SNM [special nuclear 
material] material [sic] and were missed opportunities to evaluate our SNM 
process/program.”  The licensee also said, “The proposed corrective actions will address 
the OE identified items.”  While the corrective actions for this RCE for CR 340546 did 
address the particular issues discussed in these two OE examples, the licensee failed to 
question why their OE program missed these two opportunities to evaluate their SNM 
program. 
 
However, the team concluded that in most cases the licensee appropriately evaluated 
industry operating experience when performing root cause analysis and apparent cause 
evaluations.  The licensee appropriately incorporated both internal and external 
operating experience into lessons learned for training and pre-job briefs. 
 

.3 Assessment of Self-Assessments and Audits 
 

a. Inspection Scope   
 

The team reviewed a sample of licensee self-assessments and audits to assess whether 
the licensee was regularly identifying performance trends and effectively addressing 
them.  The team also reviewed audit reports to assess the effectiveness of assessments 
in specific areas.  The specific self-assessment documents and audits reviewed are 
listed in Attachment 1. 

 
b. Assessment   

 
Overall, the team concluded that the licensee had an effective self-assessment and audit 
process.  The team determined that self-assessments were self-critical and thorough 
enough to identify deficiencies.  However, the team identified one potential vulnerability 
in the licensee’s self-assessment program. 
 
Station procedure SWP-ASU-02, “Self-Assessment and Benchmark Process,” defines 
various types of peer, self-assessment, and benchmark activities and expectations 
related to the scheduling, performance, and documentation of those activities.  These 
activities may be “focused” or “snapshot”.  Focused activities require pre-planning and 
receive oversight of the plan and report from both the responsible department manager 
and the Performance Assessment Review Board (PARB).  Snapshot activities do  
not require planning and receive only responsible department manager oversight.   
SWP-ASU-02, Step 4.3.1, directs department managers to identify periodic, baseline 
self-assessment activities for the next upcoming two or three years, but that other 
assessment activities may be identified as needed.  Furthermore, the step includes the 
instruction that activities should be categorized commensurate with the organizational 
risk, identified resources, and oversight needed and that additional guidance may be 
found in attachments to the procedure.  Additionally, SWP-ASU-02 directs the user to 
SWP-LIC-08 for NRC pre-inspection assessment requirements.  However, whereas 
SWP-LIC-08 directs which NRC pre-inspection require a focused assessment rather 
than a snapshot assessment, the guidance in SWP-ASU-02 does not provide equivalent 
guidance for other periodic baseline assessment activities, such as reviews of specific 
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engineering programs.  Attachment 8.2, Self-Assessment and Benchmark Category 
Selection Guide, to SWP-ASU-02 identifies attributes that best match the self-
assessment or benchmark activity and determine the best category assignment  
(i.e., focused or snapshot).  One attribute, for example, is that a program or activity that 
represents the greatest organizational risk would result in a focused activity, whereas a 
program or activity that is associated with low organizational risk may result in a focused 
or snapshot activity.  However, the license does not document in any procedure which 
programs or activities represent high or low organizational risk, so the decision to 
perform a focused or snapshot activity is effectively up to the department manager.  The 
PARB, however, does review which activities are proposed by the manager, but again, 
program assessment activities, for example, do not have a “default” setting for focused 
or snapshot unlike NRC pre-inspection assessments.  (CR 00362034) 

 
.4 Assessment of Safety-Conscious Work Environment  

 
a. Inspection Scope  

 
The team interviewed 55 individuals in nine focus groups.  The purpose of these 
interviews was (1) to evaluate the willingness of licensee staff to raise nuclear safety 
issues, either by initiating a condition report or by another method, (2) to evaluate the 
perceived effectiveness of the corrective action program at resolving identified problems, 
and (3) to evaluate the licensee’s safety-conscious work environment (SCWE).  The 
focus group participants included personnel from Engineering, Maintenance, Operations 
and Operations Support, Security, Radiation Protection, and Chemistry.  At the team’s 
request, the licensee’s regulatory affairs staff selected the participants blindly from these 
work groups, based partially on availability.  To supplement these focus group 
discussions, the team interviewed the Employee Concerns Program manager to assess 
his perception of the site employees’ willingness to raise nuclear safety concerns.  The 
team reviewed the Employee Concerns Program case log and select case files.  The 
team also reviewed the minutes from the licensee’s most recent safety culture 
monitoring panel meetings. 

 
b. Assessment  

  
1. Willingness to Raise Nuclear Safety Issues 
 

All individuals interviewed indicated that they would raise nuclear safety concerns.  
All felt that their management was receptive to nuclear safety concerns and was 
willing to address them promptly.  All of the interviewees further stated that if they 
were not satisfied with the response from their immediate supervisor, they had the 
ability to escalate the concern to a higher organizational level.  Most expressed 
positive experiences after raising issues to their supervisors.  All expressed positive 
experiences documenting most issues in condition reports. 
 
The team expanded the scope of the SCWE portion of the inspection after initial 
identification of potential SCWE challenges within the maintenance department.  As 
a result, the team interviewed 22 of approximately 103 in-field craft personnel in the 
maintenance department (these 22 were among the 55 total interviewed), along with 
the electrical maintenance manager and acting maintenance manager.  Through 
these interviews, the team identified evidence that a chilled environment existed in 
the electrical maintenance group as recently as late 2016.  However, after having 
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noted indications of this chilled environment in surveys and external peer reviews, 
the licensee had taken actions that appeared to have corrected the issue and 
restored a safety-conscious work environment by the time of the on-site inspection. 
The team identified no current, significant challenges to the licensee’s maintenance 
of an environment where all personnel felt free to raise concerns without fear of 
retaliation. 
 

2. Employee Concerns Program 
 

All interviewees were aware of the Employee Concerns Program.  Most explained 
that they had heard about the program through various means, such as posters, 
training, presentations, and discussion by supervisors or management at meetings.  
Most interviewees stated that they would use Employee Concerns if they felt it was 
necessary.  Nearly all expressed confidence that their confidentiality would be 
maintained if they brought issues to Employee Concerns. 
 

3. Preventing or Mitigating Perceptions of Retaliation 
 

When asked if there have been any instances where individuals experienced 
retaliation or other negative reaction for raising issues, all personnel interviewed—
with the exception of the maintenance group—stated that they had neither 
experienced nor heard of retaliation, harassment, intimidation, or discrimination. 
 
As noted above, the team determined that there was evidence that some personnel 
within the electrical maintenance group may have experienced or perceived 
retaliation for raising concerns as recently as late 2016.  Since then, measures 
implemented by the licensee to eliminate these negative reactions had been 
preliminarily effective.  In other groups, the team concluded that processes in place 
to mitigate these issues had been successfully implemented. 
 

.5 Finding 
 

Failure to Evaluate and Control Nonconforming SSCs 
 
Introduction.  The team identified a Green, Severity Level IV non-cited violation of  
10 CFR Part 50 Appendix B Criteria VII and XV, for the licensee’s failure to ensure 
materials intended for installation in safety-related applications conformed to 
procurement requirements or, if they did not, were adequately controlled and evaluated. 
 
Description.  In May 2016, the licensee documented in CR 350038 that the grease used 
in mechanical snubbers had not been qualified for safety-related use in accordance with 
appropriate quality standards.  The licensee performed an evaluation of the impact of 
this nonconformance, resulting in a determination that the grease was acceptable for 
use as-is.  However, the licensee failed to document a formal commercial grade 
dedication and acceptance of the grease as quality-related.  The licensee documented 
this failure in CR 361519. 
 
In August 2016, the licensee documented in CR 353564 that multiple safety-related 
relays that had been accepted into warehouse stores had terminal blocks installed 
upside-down on their mounting plates.  Maintenance personnel took actions to ensure 
nonconforming parts were segregated until the condition was corrected.  However, the 
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licensee failed to enter procurement processes to ensure that the parts were reviewed 
and accepted, rejected, repaired, or reworked in accordance with documented 
procedures.  The licensee documented this failure in CR 362507. 
 
Analysis.  The failure to establish a program to evaluate and control nonconforming 
materials in accordance with the procurement requirements of 10 CFR 21 was a 
performance deficiency.  This performance was more than minor because if left 
uncorrected it had the potential to become a more significant safety concern.  Using 
Inspection Manual Chapter 0609 Appendix A, dated June 19, 2012, the team determined 
that this finding was of very low safety significance (Green) because it was a deficiency 
affecting the design or qualification of a structure, system, or component, and operability 
was maintained.  The finding has a conservative bias cross-cutting aspect in the human 
performance cross-cutting area because licensee personnel improperly rationalized the 
adequacy of the nonconforming components to perform their safety-related functions 
(H.14). 
 
This performance deficiency was also a violation that impacted the regulatory process in 
that the licensee accepted a change to quality-related plant design without appropriate 
evaluation and notification, resulting in inaccurate information being contained in the final 
safety analysis report.  Therefore, the violation was also evaluated for traditional 
enforcement.  The team determined that the violation was Severity Level IV because it 
was similar to several examples in Section 6.5.d of the NRC Enforcement Policy. 
 
Enforcement.  Title 10, Code of Federal Regulations Part 50 Appendix B Criterion VII 
requires that measures be established to assure that purchased material, equipment, 
and services conform to the procurement documents.  Criterion XV requires that 
nonconforming items shall be reviewed and accepted, rejected, repaired, or reworked in 
accordance with documented procedures.  Contrary to these requirements, in May and 
August 2016 the licensee failed to ensure purchased material conformed to procurement 
documents and failed to review and accept, reject, repair, or rework nonconforming 
items in accordance with documented procedures.  Specifically, after receipt of 
information from a vendor in May 2016 that snubber grease did not conform to quality 
requirements, licensee engineers accepted the grease as-is and failed to dedicate the 
commercial-grade grease as described in 10 CFR Part 21.  Additionally, in August 2016 
after identifying that some safety-related relays had been accepted into stores with 
terminal blocks mounted upside-down, the licensee failed to control these 
nonconforming parts.  In both cases, the licensee’s measures failed to ensure 
conformance of parts or to control the parts if they failed to conform.  Because this 
violation is of very low safety significance and Severity Level IV, and was entered into 
the licensee’s corrective action program (CR 362507), it is being treated as a non-cited 
violation in accordance with section 2.3.2.a of the NRC Enforcement Manual:   
NCV 05000397/2017007-01, “Failure to Evaluate and Control Nonconforming SSCs.” 
 

 
4OA6 Meetings, Including Exit 
 
Exit Meeting Summary 
On March 2, 2017, the inspectors presented the inspection results to Mr. M. Reddeman, Chief 
Executive Officer, and other members of the licensee staff.  The licensee acknowledged the 
issues presented.  The licensee confirmed that any proprietary information reviewed by the 
inspectors had been returned or destroyed.
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